1959

Tracy-Collins Trust Co. and Vilate P. Devine v.
Marguerite Gessford Pierpont and Ella P. Meyer :
Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thomas Fairclough Pierpont, hereafter called testator, died testate on September 14, 1954, in Provo, Utah. The testator's will was, on October 22, 1954, admitted to probate in the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for the County of Utah and Tracy-Collins Trust Company was duly appointed as executor (R. pp. 29, 467).

On October 2, 1957, the executor filed its second and final account and report, petition for confirmation of agreement, petition for construction of will and petition for final distribution. The hearing on this petition was held on October 18, 1957, and timely legal notice thereof was given to all interested parties. The petition was granted insofar as it requested final distribution of the estate and by an order effective as of October 18, 1957, the residue of the estate was distributed to Tracy-Collins Trust Company as trustee (hereinafter called trustee) for the use and benefit of certain persons named in the will (R. p. 467).

As the result of a demand made by the attorney for Mrs. Ella P. Meyer that the monthly payments be made for the period commencing with the testator's death, said petition also requested the probate court to interpret the meaning of subparagraph SEVENTH (i) of the Will* and to make an order directing the trustee as to the date from which payments to Mrs. Pierpont and Mrs. Meyer should be made. On October 25, 1957, the probate court, after a hearing in which Mrs. Meyer's counsel participated, ruled in a minute entry that the bequests in subparagraph SEVENTH (i) "are in the nature of annui-

* "(i) From the income of the Trust Estate and, if insufficient, from the principal thereof, my Trustee, subject to the provisions of subparagraph (k) of this Paragraph SEVENTH, shall make disbursements as follows:

- (1) To my wife MARGUERITE GESSFORD PIERPONT, subject to the provisions of Paragraph EIGHTH of this Will, the sum of Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00) per month during her lifetime, PROVIDED EXPRESSLY that if she shall remarry such payments shall cease upon her remarriage; and
- (2) To my sister ELLA P. MEYER the sum of One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) per month during her lifetime."

ties'' and as such commenced at testator's death. The minute entry also ruled that the matter was controlled by Section 74-3-14, U. C. A. 1953 and that the bequest to Mrs. Pierpont was in addition to the family allowance provided for her by paragraph SIXTH* (R. p. 468). Thereafter, the trustee filed a petition and an amended petition for rehearing the petition for construction of will and for reconsideration and cancellation of the minute entry to which respondents filed answers and amended answers (R. p. 468). The court granted the trustee's petition for rehearing, as amended, and such rehearing was had on June 30, 1958. Timely notice of this hearing was given to all heirs-at-law, legatees and devisees of the testator and all of the beneficiaries under the trust (R. p. 469). All the trust beneficiaries except John B. Pierpont appeared either personally or through a duly appointed guardian *ad litem* and all of said beneficiaries except respondents joined in the trustee's petition for rehearing as amended (R. p. 469). John B. Pierpont had not been found at the time of the hearing but a citation and summons had been duly served upon him by publication in the *Daily Herald*, a newspaper published in Provo, Utah (R. p. 373). John B. Pierpont later joined in the trustee's petition for rehearing as amended (R. p. 390).

After argument at the rehearing the court took the matter under advisement and in a second minute entry

* "SIXTH: It is my desire that my Executor shall cause provision to be made for the payment to my wife, MARGUERITE GESSFORD PIERPONT, of a family allowance of TWO HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS (\$250.00) per month from the date of my death until such time as my residual estate shall be distributed to my Trustee, as provided in Paragraph SEVENTH hereof."

dated September 24, 1958, adhered to its prior ruling (R. p. 463).

Thereafter the court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law which included findings that the provisions made by said subparagraph SEVENTH (i) of the testator's will were in the nature of annuities and controlled by Section 74-3-14, U.C.A. 1953; that the monthly payments should commence September 14, 1954, the date of death of the testator; that the will became effective as of the date of death of the testator and the trust provisions became effective as of that date; and that there was nothing in the will to indicate the testator intended to postpone the payments provided for in subparagraph SEVENTH (i) of the will until the estate was distributed to the trustee (R. pp. 460-466).

The court concluded and decreed that respondent Marguerite Gessford Pierpont was entitled to the sum of \$9,282.88 representing monthly payments from September 14, 1954, to October 18, 1957, the date on which the residue of the estate was distributed to the trustee together with interest on said \$250.00 payments found to be due her "from the dates that they became due at the rate of six per cent per annum." This amount was decreed to be *in addition* to the sum of \$8,750.00 representing the family allowance paid to the widow during probate and as to which there is no question. The court further concluded and decreed that Ella P. Meyer was entitled to the sum of \$3,713.16 representing monthly payments found to be due her under said will provision

from September 14, 1954, to October 18, 1957, "together with interest on said \$100.00 payments * * * from the dates that they became due at the rate of six per cent per annum."

The trustee and Vilate P. DeVine, one of the beneficiaries under the trust, duly appealed from said decree (R. p. 473).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(a) *Circumstances under which the will was executed:*

Respondent Marguerite Gessford Pierpont is the widow of the testator. Mrs. Pierpont was many years younger than the testator and married him when he was at an advanced age (R. p. 370). Prior to the marriage the widow was employed by the testator as his private secretary (R. p. 370). The widow and the testator were married on January 17, 1951, so that at the date of testator's death on September 14, 1954, they had been married less than four years. Respondent Ella P. Meyer is the sister of the testator (R. p. 14).

The testator left the five following surviving children born of another marriage: Naomi P. Petit, Vilate P. DeVine, Thomas G. Pierpont, Ruth P. Eccles and John B. Pierpont who are residual beneficiaries under the testamentary trust (R. p. 16). Two of the decedent's children born of said other marriage, Clifford S. Pierpont and Margaret Pierpont Gardner, predeceased the testator and the children of said Clifford S. Pierpont: Clifford S. Pier-

pont, Jr., Smoot S. Pierpont and George S. Pierpont; and the children of said Margaret Pierpont Gardner: Reed P. Gardner, David P. Gardner and Vilate Gardner constitute the remaining residual beneficiaries under the testamentary trust (R. p. 16).

In addition to the above-named grandchildren, the testator left surviving him the following named ten grandchildren: Thomas P. Petit, Richard P. Petit, Diana D. Felt, Thomas C. Pierpont, Kay Pierpont, Susan Eccles, Barbara E. Coit, Dennis B. Pierpont, John B. Pierpont, Jr., and Cherie Pierpont. (R. p. 71-72) All the testator's grandchildren are beneficiaries under subparagraph SEVENTH (j)(1). The above-named living children of the testator, in addition to being residual beneficiaries under the trust are also direct beneficiaries under subparagraph SEVENTH (j)(2).

(b) *Nature of testator's estate:*

The inventory and appraisement shows that the value of testator's gross estate at death was \$325,443.91 (R. pp. 128-134). This included:

(i) Stock in corporations valued at.....	\$304,034.06
(ii) Vivian Park home valued at.....	7,200.00
(iii) Automobile valued at	1,900.00
(iv) Accounts receivable valued at.....	11,550.99

(Later in the first account (R. p. 300) an additional account receivable for \$3,524.00 was added

making total accounts receivable
of \$15,074.99.)

(v) Furniture valued at	750.00
(vi) Cash of only.....	8.86
	<hr/>
	\$325,443.91

In addition to the above property the state inheritance tax report (R. p. 172) included the following jointly owned property which vested in the widow at testator's death:

(i) Cash in joint checking account.....	\$ 240.23
(ii) Vivian Park real property.....	200.00
(iii) Provo Shakespeare Avenue home.....	12,000.00
	<hr/>
	\$12,440.23

An analysis of the first and second accounts filed in connection with the administration of the testator's estate appearing respectively at pages 208-213 and 297-305 of the record shows that none of the property in the estate produced any income during probate *except* that interest of \$244.75 was realized under the contract of sale of the Vivian Park home reported in the second account (R. p. 297). The other cash receipts reported in the two accounts consisted of loans to the estate (totaling approximately \$70,000.00; insurance payments and premium refunds; money received in the settlement of a law suit and money received in the conversion of estate assets. In this connection it should be noted that not until the

receipt of the cash distribution from the Provo Foundry and Machine Company on August 29, 1957, did the estate have any liquid principal assets not needed to pay the estate debts, taxes and expenses of administration (R. p. 297).

The net residual estate distributed to the trustee, after payment of expenses of administration, taxes and specific bequests was \$158,339.22. (R. p. 336)

(c) General contents of will and manner estate disposed of:

After providing for the payment of debts, taxes and expenses of administration in paragraph FIRST, the testator disposed of his estate in the following manner:

Under paragraph SECOND the widow was given the automobile and the furniture and equipment in both the Provo City and Provo Canyon homes (R. p. 11).

Paragraph THIRD made seventeen specific bequests totaling \$19,000.00 (R. pp. 11-12).

Paragraph FOURTH bequeathed a total of \$5,000.00 to Tracy-Collins Trust Company in trust for the use and benefit of John B. Pierpont and Thomas G. Pierpont (R. p. 12).

Paragraph FIFTH provided that estate assets were not to be sold unless the executor considered it could be done at a fair and reasonable price, "even though such course may involve delay in the distribution to be made

under this Will and in the settling of my estate.” (R. p. 13) Subparagraph SEVENTH (k) similarly provides that after distribution to it the trustee was not to sell principal assets at a sacrifice in order to obtain funds to make payments under the trust (R. p. 15). These provisions have important significance, hereafter commented on, owing to the want of liquid assets and the composition of the estate which consisted chiefly of stock in the Provo Foundry and Machine Company, a company which was organized, developed, controlled and managed by testator.

Paragraph SIXTH provided for the payment to the widow of a family allowance of \$250.00 per month “from the date of my death until such time as my residual estate shall be distributed to my Trustee, as provided in Paragraph SEVENTH hereof.” (R. p. 13) Under this provision the widow received a total of \$8,750.00 during probate as a family allowance (R. pp 212 and 300).

The residual estate was then bequeathed and devised in trust to appellant bank to be held and disposed of in accordance with the provisions of paragraph SEVENTH (R. pp. 13-16).

Paragraph EIGHTH provided an alternative \$20,000.00 bequest to the widow in lieu of all other bequests and devises given to her. (R. p. 17) The widow declined to accept this alternative bequest.

Paragraphs NINTH through THIRTEENTH contain general provisions (R. p. 17), some of which hereafter will be discussed in more detail.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE WILL SHOWS AN INTENTION THAT PAYMENTS UNDER SUBPARAGRAPH SEVENTH (i) SHOULD COMMENCE FROM THE DATE OF THE FINAL DISTRIBUTION OF THE ESTATE TO THE TRUSTEE.

POINT II.

THE WILL SHOWS AN INTENTION THAT THE TESTATOR INTENDED TO POSTPONE THE PAYMENTS PROVIDED FOR IN SUBPARAGRAPH SEVENTH (i) UNTIL THE ESTATE WAS DISTRIBUTED TO THE TRUSTEE.

POINT III.

THE PAYMENTS UNDER SUBPARAGRAPH SEVENTH (i) OF THE WILL ARE NOT ANNUITIES AND ARE NOT CONTROLLED BY SECTION 74-3-14, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953.

POINT IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT INTEREST BE PAID TO RESPONDENTS ON THE AMOUNTS DECREED TO BE DUE THEM.

ARGUMENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Preliminary to arguing the above points, appellants emphasize four basic principles which, appellants submit, govern this appeal:

First, the interpretation of trust provisions of a will is inherently an equitable function of the court. No evidence was introduced at the hearings below and no questions of fact were tried or determined. The purported "findings of fact" made by the lower court were actually conclusions since they were founded only on the lower court's interpretation of the testator's will made without supporting evidence. These facts alter the usual appellate rule that a lower court's decree will be sustained if there is a reasonable basis for it, and impose on this court the duty to interpret the will *de novo* according to applicable law.

In *Wright v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 22 Utah 338, 62 Pac. 317, 318 (Utah 1900) this court in commenting upon the scope of review in cases where no evidence is introduced in the trial court stated in part:

"The trial court found that the verdict was not a chance verdict, and it is claimed by respondent's counsel that, as the affidavits are conflicting, this finding is conclusive, and quotes, in support of this contention, the cases of *Nelson v. Southern Pac. Co.*, 15 Utah, 328, 49 Pac. 644, and *Mangum v. Mining Co.*, 15 Utah, 551, 50 Pac. 834. These cases have no application whatever to motions for a new trial, and are applicable only to trials by jury, or

by the court when a jury is not demanded. This court has frequently held that, even on appeals in equity cases, notwithstanding both questions of law and fact are subject to review, the findings of the trial court will not be set aside when the evidence is conflicting, unless the evidence is clearly insufficient. *Sidney Stevens Implement Co. v. South Ogden Land, Building & Improvement Co.* (Utah) 58 Pac. 846; *Klopenstine v. Hays*, 20 Utah, 45, 57 Pac. 712; *McCornick v. Mangum*, 20 Utah, 17, 57 Pac. 428; *Irrigation Co. v. Thomas*, 19 Utah, 360, 57 Pac. 30; and numerous other cases cited in foregoing decisions. All of these cases relate to findings in trials on the merits, and the reason on which they are based has no application whatever to motions for new trials. In a trial on the merits the witnesses are subject to cross-examination, and, being in view of the trial judge or referee, he has a better opportunity to judge of their credibility than the appellate court. On a motion for a new trial supported and resisted, as in the case at bar, on ex parte affidavits, those making the affidavits are not subject to cross-examination, and, not being before the trial judge, his opportunity to judge of their credibility and the weight of their statements is no better than the appellate court. *In all such cases, and in equity cases where the evidence consists exclusively of depositions, the reason upon which the decisions quoted are based fails, and the rule established by them has no application to such cases.* *White v. Pease*, 15 Utah, 170, 49 Pac. 416; *State v. Halford*, 18 Utah, 3, 54 Pac. 819; *Saunders v. Pacific Co.*, 15 Utah, 334, 49 Pac. 646.” (Emphasis added)

Second, the meaning of the will is to be ascertained “according to the intention of the testator” (§ 74-2-1, U. C. A. 1953).

Third, such intention is to be determined “from the words of the will, taking into view the circumstances under which it was made, exclusive of his oral declarations” (§ 74-2-2, U. C. A. 1953).

Fourth, meaning is to be ascertained not only from the will provisions in question but from all the will provisions “construed in relation to each other, and, if possible, so as to form one consistent whole” (§ 74-2-5, U. C. A. 1953).

POINT I.

THE WILL SHOWS AN INTENTION THAT PAYMENTS UNDER SUBPARAGRAPH SEVENTH (i) SHOULD COMMENCE FROM THE DATE OF THE FINAL DISTRIBUTION OF THE ESTATE TO THE TRUSTEE.

The judgment appealed from is founded in large part upon finding No. 7 (which is actually a conclusion) that the trust provisions of the will became effective on the date of testator's death. (R p. 464-465) The implication is that if the trust provisions became effective on that date the payments under subparagraph SEVENTH (i) commenced then.

The question of the time when the trust provisions became effective must be answered from an interpretation of the provisions of the will.

There is no provision of the will that states or suggests that the trust provisions became effective at the testator's death. On the other hand, there are a number of will provisions which show a clear intention that the trust provisions were to become operative only when the residual estate was distributed to the trustee.

Note how explicitly the testator delineated between the periods of probate and trust administration. Paragraph TWELFTH appointed Tracy-Collins Trust Company as executor of testator's will. Paragraph SEVENTH designated the bank as trustee of the testamentary trust. Paragraph FIFTH contains instructions to the executor about not selling assets at a sacrifice during probate and prior to distribution while subparagraph SEVENTH (k) contains similar instructions to the trustee relative to the trust estate. In paragraph THIRTEENTH the testator expresses the wish that the executor *and* the trustee would consult with his son and sons-in-law about matters relating to the administration and handling "of my estate or of said trust." These provisions show an unmistakable intention that there would be successive not simultaneous periods of administration by the executor and the trustee.

Note also the significant language of paragraph SIXTH where the testator defines the period during which the widow would receive the family allowance as being "from the date of my death until such time as my residual estate shall be distributed to my Trustee, *as provided in Paragraph SEVENTH hereof.*" (R. p. 13) (Em-

phasis added) Paragraph SEVENTH, which immediately follows, provides in part:

“I give, devise and bequeath all the rest, residue and remainder of my estate, real, personal or mixed, wheresoever situate, whereof I may be seized or possessed, or to which I may in any manner be entitled, or in which I may be interested at the time of my death, to TRACY-COLLINS TRUST COMPANY, of Salt Lake City, Utah, as Trustee, in trust, nevertheless, for the following uses and purposes: * * * (R. p. 13)

These two paragraphs read together distinctly show the testator intended that the distribution of the residual estate to the trustee referred to in paragraph SIXTH and the bequest and devise provided for in paragraph SEVENTH were to occur simultaneously after probate had been completed and the residual estate determined. In other words, the distribution referred to in paragraph SIXTH is synonymous with the devise and bequest in paragraph SEVENTH. This interpretation is corroborated by the important difference in the language of disposition used in paragraph SEVENTH and in paragraphs SECOND, THIRD and FOURTH.

Paragraph SECOND provides “*I hereby* give, grant, devise and bequeath to my wife, MARGUERITE GESSFORD PIERPONT” certain described personal property. (R. p. 11) In paragraph THIRD the testator made seventeen specific bequests using the words “*I hereby* give and bequeath.” (R. p. 11) In subparagraph FOURTH (a) the testator granted \$2,500.00 to Tracy-Collins Trust Company in trust for his son John B. Pier-

pont using the words “I *hereby* give and bequeath” and under subparagraph FOURTH (b) in creating a similar trust for his son Thomas G. Pierpont the testator also used the same words “I *hereby* give and bequeath.” (R. p. 12)

However, in paragraph SEVENTH the testator omitted use of the word “hereby” where he provided “I give, devise and bequeath all the rest, residue and remainder of my estate * * * to TRACY-COLLINS TRUST COMPANY * * *.” (R. p. 13)

The use of the word “hereby” can and does have significant meaning. For example, the language in an act “that there be, and hereby is, granted” was construed by the Utah Supreme Court in *Tarpey v. Deseret Salt Co.*, 5 Utah 494, 17 Pac. 631, 633, to mean the grant of legal title *in præsenti* whether the lands included in the grant were surveyed and selected or not.

Of greater significance in connection with the Pierpont will is the consistent use of the word “hereby” in each of the paragraphs making specific bequests and the omission of the word “hereby” in the grant of the residuary estate to Tracy-Collins Trust Company, as trustee.

Finally, the provisions of paragraph SEVENTH which prescribe and define the power and duties of the trustee demonstrate the fallacy of the lower court’s “finding” that the trust provisions of the will became effective at testator’s death.

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