1959

Tracy-Collins Trust Co. and Vilate P. Devine v.
Marguerite Gessford Pierpont and Ella P. Meyer :
Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

At that argument (R. 14) appellants' counsel referred the court to the Utah case of *In Re SEARS' ESTATE* 55 P 83 which no doubt assisted the trial court in determining that the bequests were in the nature of annuities.. Counsel does not suggest this court now consult its own decision, precedent since 1898, and unchanged. There testator made provision for his wife, sister, the latter to get \$50.00 per month during her life. A nurse was given money "as soon as there shall be sufficient," and by the payment of expenses, and the two annuities, there was insufficient for the nurse. The nurse persuaded the trial court to cut down the sister, but this court reversed, holding:

"Each of the foregoing bequests constitute an annuity, to continue during the life of the legatee . . . The record shows . . . that the estate after payment of the debts, expenses of administration, and a monthly allowance to the widow, which lasted about a year, was well-nigh exhausted . . . that the sister and legatee . . . has received nothing out of the estate, although at the time of making the decree complained of, 12 months had elapsed since the death of testate. It is apparent that all the legacies cannot be paid, and the question is who is entitled to preference under the terms of the will, as between the legatees to this controversy?

"It seems clear that the testator himself indicated whoshould receive preference in such a contingency . . . Next there is a provision for his sister and her children. This is also quite natural, because of the tender and affectionate feelings which usually exist between brother and sister. Then, after those who are entitled to his

first and highest consideration have been provided for . . . bequest to the nurse . . . it cannot be presumed that the testator intended that this bequest to a stranger should, under any contingency, receive preference over those made to his wife and sister. Such a presumption would be opposed to the natural feeling or affection which man has for his wife and next of kin.

“The bequest to his sister was an annuity, which commenced at the testator’s death while the bequest to the nurse was a legacy which was not due until one year after his death. Rev. St. 2815 . . . ”

The will stated that payments would commence with the date of testator’s death. Pierpont’s gift to Mrs. Meyer is silent. But that silence does not dispose of the case as grounds for this court declaring the gift to be an annuity. The laws of Utah at that time (Rev. Stat. Utah No. 2815 was identical to 74-3-14 UCA 1953 and the court found the old statute made out an annuity. The fact that the will itself specified the date of death for payment is immaterial in view of the Utah statutes. In leading California case *In Re PLATT’S ESTATE*, 131 P2d 825 at 828 the will did not specify the time payments were to commence, but that court, along with virtually all others, stated:

“So as there is no express provision in the will as to the date from which payment of income shall accrue, under Section 160 of the Probate Code the rights of both wife and son to income under the trust accrue from the date of the testator’s death.”

In arguing our point number two on annuities, may

we say that implicit in the authorities cited in point one is the law pertaining to annuities. We advert primarily to the arguments of appellants for answer, referring the reader to point one for synthesis of the dual question of vesting and annuities. The two are closely allied in the cases.

The prime statutory definition of annuity is in 74-3-1, UCA 1953:

“ . . . (3) An annuity is a bequest of certain specified sums periodically; if the fund or property out of which they are payable fails, resort may be had to the general assets as in case of a general legacy.”

Counsel refers on page 26 of their brief to the definition of annuity as it pertains to insurance. That is impertinent. We deal only with the probate definition, quoted immediately above, it having but one prime requisite: that is for a certain specified sum, periodically. The will at paragraph 7 (i) is certain. It specifies \$100.00 per month “during her lifetime.” It also goes further than need be, under the Utah statute, and requires the invasion of principle if income is insufficient. Thus the statute of Utah just quoted, as to its final clause, is not even needed to give certainty.

Counsel goes to paragraph Seven (k) to create doubt as to certainty, and even argues on page 30 of their brief that Mrs. Meyer could not sue to force a sale. -Suffice it to say she did not. She did not presume to rifle the estate, not force uneconomic sacrifice. She waited patiently, only to have her waiting rewarded

with a prolonged and costly defense of her absolute rights, once the estate was liquidated and in a position to distribute. It was wise for the testator Pierpont to instruct no haste in marshalling the assets. But the intent is absolute and clear in the will: first, that Mrs. Meyer was to get under 7(i) a sum certain during her lifetime; and second, that if in prudence, monthly payments were reduced or suspended, they *shall* be made up, in 7 (k). It is impossible to mistake the construction. It is clear. It was not drawn by amateur counsel. Had the draftsman intended to postpone payments to Mrs. Meyer, it would have been easy to carve out an exception for the then existing pertinent statute, 74-3-14 UCA 1953, but all that appears is the wisdom of careful liquidation, holding out the instruction that if “payments required to be made” were suspended, they *shall* be made up. Again note that 7 (k) only refers to “monthly payments” and Mrs. Meyer and the widow are the only set up for monthly payments. When the construction given an instrument by a trial court appears to be resonable and consistent with the intent of the party making it, appellate courts will not substitute another interpretation even though it seems tenable. Here, any substitute interpretation would be stretching intent, and would be villainous.

Appellants say Mrs. Meyer would have no remedy had she sued for a more speedy liquidation and payment to her of the annuity. They argue “respondents do not have an absolute right that they (payments) be made up.” (p 30, their brief) It may be only a qualified

right, qualified only by the caution of orderly liquidation. We do not split hairs. Had the trustee or the probate court been slothful in its liquidation, and undertaken to unnecessarily prolong that process, certainly this court under its rules concerning Extraordinary Writs would have the power to step in and discipline; the rights of Mrs. Meyer were qualified only to the extent of waiting for sales, conversion into cash without sacrifice. This is sensible, but is no grounds for appellants arguing the need for an "absolute right" to receive the annuity. This court did not mind finding In Re SEARS' ESTATE, supra, that the sister, who had not been paid anything within a year of the testator's death, still had a vested right to receive the annuity as of the date of testator's death. It has been unfair for the trustee to so long withhold the annuity, since it had the funds. The trustee has yielded to the pressures of the residuary legatees; instead of remaining neutral as a trustee should, it has taken sides with the grand children and others, remote from the testator's sister, whom Mr. Pierpont had maintained, and wanted to continue to help during her old age. As to Mrs. Meyer, there never has been a legitimate controversy

The complete answer to appellant's argument concerning a right to compel payment before distribution is set forth In Re MARRE'S ESTATE, 114 P2d 591 at 590 under 11-13 sub heads, quoted hereinbefore. Space does not allow repetition. (see page 5,.... of this brief)

Appellants' reference to precatory words in paragraph 7(k) is specious. The whole idea of suspension

or reduction of monthly payments is predicated on the precatory use of the word “may” on the fourth line of 7(k). Note that on line 2 thereof, the testator has used the mandatory, unprecatory words “payments *required*.” This proves the stronger intent in paragraph 7 (i) where the strongest word in the law, “shall” is unqualified, as to the intent that his sister *shall* receive \$100 per month during her lifetime. Precatory words may be found in 7(k), but they relate to the discretion of postponement, not the ultimate right of Mrs. Meyer to receive. “. . . resulting deficiencies in monthly payments *shall be made up*,” are anything but precatory — they manifest a determination to maintain those of his loved-ones who had monthly payments, not those that came after! Certainly the trustee had qualified right to postpone payments; but with the qualified right rode the unqualified right to have the deficiencies “made up.” This type of a will is to be encouraged, but certainly it would make bad law for this court to graft into precedent law the hair-splitting and ambiguity implicit in such contention of appellants.

Appellants are confused. The best way to unconfuse them is for this court to follow the California Supreme Court In Re MARRE’S ESTATE, *supra*, 114 P2 586 and since followed widely. We have quoted earlier in this brief from that excellent decision. In that case it was likewise argued that annuities were not created by the will because no date of commencing payments was stated. The court said:

“The absence of an express direction that the payments were to accrue from the date of her

death does not establish conclusively that the testatrix had no such intent The terms of the will clearly indicated that this trust was created for the specific purpose of providing maintenance and support for the testatrix' grandson . . . Indeed, if the will itself did not refer to this bequest as a trust for maintenance and support, the surrounding facts and circumstances would compel that conclusion."

WOODLEY v. WOODLEY 117 P2d 722, cited by appellants at page 29, their brief, relates to an annuity which is a charge on land, and not applicable. Besides it is a lower court decision; it does not help or hurt the respondent's position at bar otherwise than to dignify the argument that annuitants have vested rights that may be vindicated in the courts.

Appellants cite 95 C. J. S. 803 on precatory words. Note the same authority at page 800, keeping in mind that the precatory words, if such they be in 7(k) of the will, are addressed to the trustee, not to the right of Mrs. Meyer to receive monthly payments. Her right is preserved by the words "*payments required to be made*" on the second line thereof. The precatory words refer to the method of liquidation; they are suggestions to the trustee, and in no way unvest Mrs. Meyer. Line 13 of 7(k) illuminates again the intent that the trustee shall meet the payments specified in this will."

Appellants' brief has not completely leveled with the court on page 32, line 3 of its attempt to elucidate the precatory. It is singular that the most important word in the paragraph — "*shall* was ommitted. It is this word that refers to the vested right of the annui-

tants. Possibly counsel did not realize it was there. He assumes that in its place a word like "may" exists. Not so. His argument falls with his failure to find the word! Substitute a precatory word in its place, and the finding this court must affirm is self evident.

In re PITTOCK'S WILL cited at page 33 of appellants' brief is beside the point.

Counsel trifle with the manner of the lower court in finding the bequests are "in the nature of annuities." The learned trial judge used a common manner of speech, writing. Please notice how the California court uses the same expression on line 18 of page 590 In Re MARRE'S ESTATE, 114 P2d 591, supra. Counsel quibbles.

74-2-25 UCA 1953 raises a presumption that Mrs. Meyer had a vested right to receive her annuity as of the time of death. At page 36 of their brief, appellants admit respondent Meyer is supported by a presumption. Appellants have utterly failed to rebut the presumption. The will itself confirms that the presumption is wholly warranted.

The only discretion trustee had, in respect to respondent Mrs. Meyer, was to take precautions in an orderly liquidation. All of their talk on this subject is unworthy. There is no discretion when Mr. Pierpont said "shall be made up," not may.

Finally, appellants' brief adverts on page 37 to the duty of the trustee to pay the annuity to Mrs. Meyer *or to her estate*. Had she died prior to distribution,

counsel did not say her estate could not collect! The authorities treated herein established the vesting as of date of testator's death and preserved the rights that Mrs. Meyer's estate could realize. Mr. Pierpont recognized this by paragraph 9 of the will. That further proves his intent to take care of her during her lifetime. It was and is a vested right that cannot be postponed. Only the manner of making payment is affected by paragraph 7 (k), not the right.

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING INTEREST SHOULD BE PAID FROM DATE OF DEATH.

Appellants' counsel argue on page 38 of their brief that the court erred in affixing interest on the annuity. In that connection, the clear error of appellants is exhibited. The brief say at page 38:

“In any event, the award is erroneous as to any payments for the period prior to August 29, 1957, since it is within the *discretion* of the trustee as to whether any such payments shall be made up.”

Nothing could be further from the truth.

To get at this question, as a matter of law, which appellants have skirted, citing no authority, let us look at the cases on interest accruing on annuities. The authorities we are concerned with all agree that interest accrues on an annuity of this kind!

The learned trial court required the payment of interest to Mrs. Meyer, and presumably he relied on the Utah statute, and the general law. He was right. What

is the difference between an annuity and a legacy? All legacies are not annuities, but all annuities are legacies! Hence, when the Utah statute expressly reaches out and employs the language of "legacies for maintenance" Mrs. Meyer is clearly within the Utah statute. But we do not rely on the Utah statute alone.

Note what 2 Am Jur. 829 No. 25 has to say about Interest upon arrearages:

"In this country the weight of authority supports the conclusion that interest upon arrearages of annuities is recoverable from the time the installments of the annuity becomes due and payable."

The statute of Utah requires the payment of interest. 74-3-15 says:

"Legacies bear interest from the time when they are due and payable, except that legacies for maintenance or to the testator's widow, bear interest from the testator's decease."

Mrs. Meyer was given a legacy in the nature of an annuity. It was clearly for "maintenance." All inferences point positively in that direction. This court is bound to accept the proffer of proof that for 18 to 20 months before his death, he maintained her with payments of at least \$100 per month. (Tr. 20) Is a legacy, as used in 74-3-15 an annuity? Certainly it is. Bouvier defines a legacy to be "A gift of personal property by last will and testament. A gift or disposition in one's favor by a last will. The term is more commonly applied to a bequest of money or chattels . . . A direction to the executor to support and maintain a person during his life gives

him a legacy." There can be no doubt but that an annuity is within the generic term used in 74-3-15, thus requiring the payment of interest, and from the time they are due and payable, which is in 74-3-14 UCA 1953: "Annuities commence at the testator's decease." The trial court was aware of this and hence made his decree accordingly. This should by all means be affirmed.

Note that the California statute since 1931 has read:

"General pecuniary legacies, if not paid prior to the first anniversary of the testator's death, bear interest thereafter at the rate of 4% per annum. Annuities commence at the testator's death and are due at the end of the annual, monthly or other specified period. Whenever an annuitant, legatee of a legacy for maintenance or beneficiary of a trust may be entitled to periodic payments or trust income commencing at the testator's death, he shall be entitled to interest at 4% per annum on the amount of any unpaid accumulations of such payments or income held by the executor or administrator on each anniversary of the decedent's death, computed from the date of such anniversary." (See legislative history of section.)

Deering's Calif. Codes, Probate, 333 No. 162. California codified its practice in the courts. Utah's statutes are not in conflict, and are in effect to the same effect, without the interest rate stated.

When interest attaches by statute, that of itself proves the vesting of the legacy, annuity.

Please refer to Jarman on Wills, 7th Ed., vol. 2, page 1108 for reference to the English authorities. Lord Harwicke is there quoted as saying that "where the accumu-

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